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	Address: 870 Arthurs Creek Road, Arthurs Creek
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	Construction Date: From c.1863 – c.1900
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View of Charnwood from rear of Arthurs Creek Mechanics Institute. Source: Samantha Westbrooke, 2015.

Historical Context

The first squatters arrived in the Arthurs Creek area in 1837. The Reid’s run ‘Hazel Glen’, where the original stone and mud house survives, lay on the southwest. The Bears’ ‘New Leicester’ lay on the northwest, the Macfarlane’s ‘Ard Chattan’ lay between Running Creek and Arthurs Creek, and the Smiths ‘Glen Ard’ lay to the west of Running Creek (Hicks 1988:6). Most of the land west of the Plenty River was sold by the mid-1840s. The land to the east, including the Arthurs Creek area, which was forested and hilly with poor sedimentary soils, was considered ‘cattle country’ and remained under grazing leases for longer (Hicks 1988:13).

The more open undulating country between the Yan Yean Reservoir and Arthurs Creek/Deep Creek was bought at Crown Land sales in the mid-1860s (PROV, VPRS 16171/P1/6, Linton-2). Under the 1860 Land Act, the remaining grazing leases were revoked. The eastern margin of the Parish of Linton, including the Arthurs Creek locality, was surveyed in 1856 but remained unsold. Lots 16, 17 and 24 of this survey were the first to be selected in c1861 by C. Vaughan, M. McLaughlin and W. Watson (Department of Crown Lands and Survey, 1856). The remainder of the Arthurs Creek area became the Upper Plenty Farmers’ Common (later Whittlesea Common) in 1861. An area to the east of Arthurs Creek was proclaimed as the Arthurs Creek Common in 1871 (Vic Gov Gazette, 26 March 1861, No.48:632; PROV, VPRS 0242/P0, file C90869). Most of the European settlers in the area were orchardists and dairy farmers, the most famous of which were the Ryders and Drapers (PROV, VPRS 16171/P1/6, Linton-2).  The homesteads of the 1860s such as those of the Ryders and Murphys were typically slab huts (PROV, VPRS 627/ P1, Unit 235, File No 19301). Butter, eggs and poultry were often the first source of income.

A village began to appear in the early 1870s, with the Primitive Methodist church established in 1873, the school opened in 1876 and the Mechanics’ Institute in 1878. The Arthur’s Creek Fruitgrowers’ Association formed in 1890 and held meetings and competitive exhibitions of fruit at the Mechanics’ Institute (Argus, 14 May 1890:6). Daily mail services started in 1889. By 1899 George Murphy had built a post office and store (E&WSA& DCVA, 26 April 1918 :3; Payne 1975:191). The settlement would expand little after this point. In the late 1880s there were 1500 acres under fruit within a three-mile radius of Arthur’s Creek. The extension of the railway to Yan Yean in 1889 made transport to market easier and quicker (Argus, 21 October 1889:9).

Poor prices during the Depression compounded the decline, and by the late 1930s all but the largest and most progressive orchards were unprofitable. Orchards were cleared and the land turned over to sheep. Markets for lamb and wool were variable and while the larger farms survived on sheep, the smaller holdings reverted to dairying and pigs. By the 1970s beef cattle were becoming more profitable. Orcharding continued at Glen Ard, which by 1975 was reputedly the largest orchard in southern Victoria (Five Pear Trees, Apted's Glen Ard Orchard, 120997). The township had about 350 residents at the 1996 census (Hunter-Payne, 2008).

History

Charnwood
Charles Draper, his wife Catherine and their children, arrived from Liverpool to Hobson’s Bay in April 1853. Charles was a wheelwright and worked at Fulton’s Foundry in Melbourne. The family became tenant farmers at the Donaldson’s property at Kangaroo Ground (Payne 1975:78). Charles Draper first selected land under the mainstream selection provisions of the Land Act 1862, Sections 21 and 22, acquiring Lots 28A and 28B Parish of Linton. Between 1862 and 1876 the Drapers obtained freehold over their selection, as well as the adjacent Lot 2B Parish of Queenstown (Vic. Dept. Land and Survey 1856 and 1888). The earliest homestead buildings, on the west side of Running Creek near its junction with Deep Creek, probably date to around 1863 at the beginning of their freehold. The first two acres of fruit trees were planted in 1864, with the next planting in 1867 (Payne 1975:90).

The whole property was named ‘Charnwood’ after the forest in Leicestershire. Charles was said to have brought his first trees from the orchards of Kangaroo Ground (Payne 1975:90). The Drapers were not the first orchardists in the area. Robert Whatmough’s orchard on the Plenty River just north of Greensborough was bringing in £700 a year during the gold rushes (EO&S&EBR 28 February 1890:3). It was noted in 1865 that the orchardists of the Plenty River had the best crops of apples and pears. On Diamond Creek, orcharding closely followed gold. Orchards started to replace vines in East Bourke by 1867 (Edwards1979:70).

By 1875 the Drapers had forty acres of orchard and were adding a further two to four acres annually. Dairying was carried on at first to make a living while the trees were growing. Charles’ treatment of trees was unorthodox for the time, as he did not prune during the winter, allowing the trees to “grow as nature pleased”. Still, his yields were high, and other local growers followed his example. He also successfully stored apples in “camps” on the ground, surrounded by palings. The orchards ran in strips along the creeks, with occasional areas on the hillsides (Australasian 29 June 1889:15). At its peak Charnwood had around 160 acres of orchard. The Drapers took pride in the great number of fruit varieties grown, often with only a few trees of each, and there were over 400 varieties in the Draper’s apple orchard alone (Australasian 29 June 1889:15). 

In the 1890s James Draper’s third son James began to take over the running of the orchards from his father. James had been instrumental in the formation of the Arthurs Creek Fruitgrowers’ Association in 1890 and continued as an office bearer (EO&S&EBR 16 May 189:3 and 28 October 1898:5). He also began to appear as an exhibitor of fruit (EO&S&EBR 18 March 1892:2 and 22 February 1895:2). In c1900 James Draper moved a few miles west to the grazing property later known as ‘Barton Hill’ where he built a new house (EO&S&EBR 22 March 1901:2). It appears that James’ attention was now focused on his new property, as in 1901 tenders were invited for the lease of a portion of Charnwood orchard (EO&S&EBR 19 April 1901:2). In 1903 the 335 acres of Charnwood were subdivided into five lots; four were sold over the next few years, but the homestead lot of 78 acres was retained (Reporter (Box Hill) 13 November 1903:7, CT: V2919 F583754 and S&McD 1903). 
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Figure 1: Subdivision plan of the Charnwood property. The homestead is at Lot 2, not for sale. Source: Sands & McDougall Ltd, 1903, State Library of Victoria.

Charles died in 1909 and after legacies were accounted for the estate was valued at over £14,000 (EO&BER 16 November 1906:2, Bendigo Advertiser 2 June 1909:7). Probate papers show the 77-acre homestead block included a four-roomed brick house, a four-roomed timber house, stables and other outbuildings (PROV, VPRS 28/P3, 111/626). The sale advertisement shows that the homestead block was divided into seven paddocks with seven acres of orchard, two acres in vines, and seven acres in crop. Improvements consisted of a weatherboard house of nine rooms (presumably the same house referred to in probate papers, but does not mention the brick house), brick kitchen, two conservatories, stable, and outbuildings (Argus 10 July 1909:3).

Titles reveal that James Draper purchased the Charnwood homestead block and the adjoining 23-acre lot in September 1911 (CT: V3277 F655383). Now the only living son, James continued to manage the orchards at Charnwood. A number of orchards in the area were beginning to replace old trees of many varieties with better stock and less variety, as demanded by the market (Australasian 3 September 1910:10). James, however, may have put more energy into ‘Barton Hill’ for in 1913 he was fined for failing to eradicate black spot and codlin moth from his orchard at Charnwood (EO&EBR 20 June 1913:3). By 1918 the decline in orcharding throughout the district had largely taken its course.

Maria Pickard (Charles Draper’s daughter) remained living in the big house at ‘Charnwood’, but the farm was no longer active (E&WSA&DCVA 26 April 1918:1). When Maria died in 1925 she owned no real estate (Argus 25 July 1925:16). It appears that no one lived at Charnwood for a number of years after Maria’s death. The remains of the orchards were probably removed during this period. In 1939 James was still managing Charnwood, but by the time he died in 1940 the land was being used for grazing and the Charnwood homestead block featured only “an old disused house and stable out of repair” (E&WSA 28 June 1940:2). At James’ death Charnwood passed to Thomas Barton Draper and James Chester Draper. By 1960 James Chester Draper of East Brighton was the sole owner (CT:3277 F655383). Arnold Mervyn Draper of ‘Barton Hill’ acquired the property the following year. After his death in 2004, Henry Chester Draper acquired the property in 2007. The land is now used for grazing.

Charles Draper
Charles Draper, alongside John Ryder, was instrumental in the development of the orcharding industry in the district. Both men selected land on the same day in 1863 and established orchards (TEH 2016:69). Charles’ fruit was exhibited at various international exhibitions between 1873 and 1895 including in Sydney, Vienna, Philadelphia, Melbourne and London. At the 1895 Intercolonial Fruit Show in Hobart Draper won a ‘champion prize’ for the finest collection of apples and gave a lecture on filberts (related to hazelnuts) which he had grown at Charnwood (Australasian 2 November 1895:13).

Charles was prominent in a number of organisations pursuing the interests of fruit growers. From the early 1870s Charles displayed fruit at the shows of the Horticultural Society of Victoria and was an office bearer in the society (Argus,8 March 1872:7; 3 May 1872:3 and South Bourke Standard 22 March 1872:3). Charles helped to establish, and was the first president of, the Arthurs Creek Fruitgrowers’ Association, formed in 1890 (Argus 14 May 1890:6) and a member of the Whittlesea Agricultural Society (Yea Chronicle 29 April 1909:2).

Charles was active in many other aspects of the community life of the district. He became a magistrate of the central bailiwick in 1878 and a Justice of the Peace in 1885 (Argus 16 November 1878:8 and 11 July 1885:10.). He was also a councillor and several times president of the Shire of Whittlesea (Yea Chronicle 29 April 1909:2). He was a trustee for both the Mechanics Institute and the Linton (Arthurs Creek) Cemetery (Draper, 2010). Draper, along with other local identities, was instrumental in establishing Doreen's first school, a non-denominational Common School opened in 1867 (TEH 2016:68). And as part of the Arthurs Creek Fruit Growers association which campaigned for a local railway and hoped to establish a cool store in the district (THE 2016:69).




Description & Integrity
The property at 870 Arthurs Creek Road, known as Charnwood, is a large tract of land in a pastoral setting (Figure 2 and Figure 3). Deep Creek, Running Creek and Arthurs Creek run through the property, with the latter forming its eastern boundary. The property is accessed via a driveway from Arthurs Creek Road at the south-west, near the Arthurs Creek Primary School. Built structures are concentrated at the north-west of the site, and include a farmhouse, stables and various outbuildings (Figure 2 and Figure 4). The present-day site boundaries match Lot 2 of the 1903 subdivision (Figure 1).
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Figure 2: Aerial view of Charnwood at 870 Arthurs Creek Road (large central property, the built structures are circled) within the local context. Source: Nearmap, image dated February 2022 accessed April 2022. 
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Figure 3: Planning map showing the property boundaries (indicated in blue). Source: VicPlan, accessed April 2022.
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Figure 4: Closer view of the built structures at Charnwood, as labelled. Source: Nearmap, image dated February 2022, accessed April 2022.

[image: ]
Figure 5: An early photograph of Charnwood c. 1940s (original timber slab house in the bottom left corner). Source: Provided by Charles Draper.

The built structures at Charnwood (Figure 4) include the early brick house with additions, brick stables, which are substantially intact and the ruins of the glasshouses and other outbuildings. The packing shed, which must once have been a hive of industry does not survive and neither does the early timber slab hut, however there may still be evidence of this building, which was in close proximity to the existing brick house (Figure 5). There may be remnants of the original garden surrounding the house.

Both the house and the stable are of soft bricks, which were made on site using clay from a pit at the rear of the stables (B Draper, pers. Comm., 16 June 2015) The house comprised a gabled structure and a half gable, half hip wing. Aerial imagery shows the house now comprises two gabled sections, parallel but offset from each other, and the half gable, half hip wing projecting perpendicular (Figure 6). It is possible that a second gabled wing was added as a later addition to the house. There is also a deck area at the north of the house.

The stables are a simple gable form with three windows and two doors on the front elevation. 

There are a few fruit trees, which are remnants of the large orchard, remaining on the creek flats at Charnwood. The site also contains recent sheds and outbuildings.
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Figure 6: Closer view of the farmhouse, note the second gabled section at the east. Source: Nearmap, image dated February 2022, accessed April 2022.




Comparative Analysis


Charnwood at 870 Arthurs Creek Road can be compared with other early farming complexes, particularly orcharding properties, and nineteenth-century brick houses. Orcharding was a dominant industry in the district from the late nineteenth century until the interwar period. Other orcharding properties already on the Heritage Overlay include 830 Cottlesbridge-Strathewen Road, Arthurs Creek (HO29) and 760 Hurstbridge-Arthurs Creek Road, Arthurs Creek (HO89). Both these properties, however, date from the 1920s, after the industry’s peak. Charnwood, on the other hand, dates from the beginnings of this industry and demonstrates all phases up to the industry’s decline.  


Farming Complexes
Ryder’s House and Barton Hill Complex, 75 Running Creek Road, Arthurs Creek (HO245) is historically and architecturally significant to Nillumbik for its association with local pioneering family the Drapers, and as an illustration of early twentieth century orcharding. 

Barton Hill was established by James Draper, son of Charles, in about 1900. James relocated John Ryder’s old slab dwelling there, from Arthurs Creek. John Ryder and Charles Barton, were two of the earliest selectors at Arthurs Creek. In 1862 Ryder selected land on the site of the present township of Arthurs Creek, and erected his dwelling on the area known as Ryders Flat, near where Arthurs Creek school now stands. Ryders Dwelling has been used as a kitchen and pantry at Barton Hill (Gould, 1991).

Both Charnwood and the Barton Hill complex retain early buildings associated with the original farming practices, and both are associated with the important Draper family. However, Charnwood has a greater connection to both the Draper family and the establishment of the dominant orcharding industry. 

Tregowan Farm complex, 310 Doctors Gully Road, Doreen (HO193) is historically significant for its association with the fruit growing industry in Doreen in the 1860s. 

The complex comprises three main groups of buildings, a remnant orchard of plum and pear, and mature trees. Outbuildings include timber packing shed, barn and a hayshed The homestead comprises four buildings, the earliest is a two room house probably built in 1866 from local timber. The kitchen was also a living and sleeping space, and includes two fireplaces. A food storage room is located on the cool south side of the house (Gould, 1991). 

Tregowan Farm was established c1866 by Richard Bassett, one of the earliest settlers to Doreen. Both Tregowan Farm and Charnwood are associated with important pioneer families associated with orcharding, and involvement in various civic organisations. Gould notes that both Tregowan Farm and Charnwood were ‘at the forefront of orchard development in the late nineteenth century’ (Gould, 1991). The properties are comparable in terms of historical and associational significance to Nillumbik. 
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Figure 7: Aerial view of the buildings at Tregowan Farm. The original kitchen with two chimneys is visible at left of the main house, top of image. Source: Nearmap, image dated February 2022, accessed April 2022.
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Figure 8: View of the original kitchen (used as a living space) with its two brick chimneys, dated c2010. Source: realestate.com.au 

Thornholme Residence, 180 Doctors Gully Rd, Doreen (HO192) is significant as a Victorian (c1870) and Edwardian-era farm complex associated with the pioneering Creighton family, who have been in the district since the mid-nineteenth century (TEH 2016:68). The complex comprises a variety of weatherboard buildings including a house (extended), stables, cottage and woolshed, with a variety of later outbuildings. 

Thornholme and Charnwood are comparable as examples of early farming properties that are associated with significant pioneering families. The complex at Thornholme retains several original structures and elements, providing evidence of the variety of structures required for farming. Charnwood retains only the farmhouse and stables. 

The Charnwood farmhouse is distinguished as a rare example of a brick farmhouse. The majority of farm structures of this period were of timber, which was a more economical and easily sourced material. 
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Figure 9: Timber stable complex at Thornholme. Source: Shire of Whittlesea Heritage Study, 1991. 


Brick Houses
Brick House, 88 Pitt Street, Eltham (HO155) dates from c1861 house and is historically and aesthetically significant to the Shire of Nillumbik. It is associated with the prominent local builder and bricklayer, George Stebbing, who built it as his own home. Stebbing was also responsible for the construction of some of Eltham's principal township buildings, some of which are also in a Heritage Overlay (HO146, HO459, HO118 and HO154). It is aesthetically significant as a rare surviving example of the modest homes constructed for and by artisans within the early Eltham township. (Bick & Kellaway 1992)

Both houses at Pitt Street and Charnwood are modest, gable-roofed structures reflecting the development of early vernacular construction. Charnwood compares favourably as a rare example of a Victorian-era brick farmhouse, a typology that is more commonly of timber.
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Figure 10: Brick house at 88 Pitt Street, Eltham. Source: Bick & Kellaway, 1992.


Vicarage (Dendy House) at St Margaret’s Anglican Church, 79-83 Pitt Street, Eltham (HO154) dates from the 1860s and is significant for its association with local builder George Stebbing, and for its connection to the oldest church in the area. The site is also listed on the Victorian Heritage Register (VHR H0459). 

The brick farmhouse at Charnwood is a more modest structure, but both dwellings are of simple gable-roofed forms. The Vicarage is distinguished by the use of polychromatic brick and the association with the early church community. The house at Charnwood is unusual as an example of a brick farmhouse
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Figure 11: Brick Vicarage at 79-83 Pitt Street, Eltham. Source: Bick & Kellaway, 1992.

Shillinglaw Cottage, 4 Panther Place Eltham (HO146) dates from c1878-1880 and s historically significant as one of the Shire’s oldest buildings, and for its association with pioneers George Stebbing (builder) and Phillip Shillinglaw. The cottage was relocated and reconstructed in the 1960s. The original dark-coloured brick ends and Flemish bond laying pattern remain and are unusual.

Shillinglaw Cottage is distinguished by its fine and unusual brickwork, associated with noted early builder George Stebbing. Both this and the farmhouse at Charnwood are modest, gable-roofed structures, and are very early structures within the Shire. Both are associated with important pioneers and demonstrate different aspects of the Shire’s development.
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Figure 12: Shillinglaw Cottage. Source: Bick & Kellaway, 1992.











Assessment Against Criteria

Criteria referred to in Practice Note 1: Applying the Heritage Overlay, Department of Planning and Community Development, revised July 2015, modified for the local context.


CRITERION A: Importance to the course or pattern of the Shire of Nillumbik’s cultural or natural history (historical significance).
Charnwood, at 870 Arthurs Creek Road, Arthurs Creek is of historical significance as one of the first settlements in Arthurs Creek, settled as a result of the 1862 Land Act. It is significant for its demonstration of the former prominent orchard industry in the area and in particular for its associations with orchardist Charles Draper. Charnwood represents one of the shire’s key historical development periods - the heyday of fruit-growing industry between 1880 and 1910. At its peak in the 1880s, Draper’s property was one of Victoria’s most important orchard properties with around 160 acres of orchard. 


CRITERION B: Possession of uncommon, rare or endangered aspects of the Shire of Nillumbik’s cultural or natural history (rarity).
N/A


CRITERION C: Potential to yield information that will contribute to an understanding of the Shire of Nillumbik’s cultural or natural history (research potential).


CRITERION D: Importance in demonstrating the principal characteristics of a class of cultural or natural places or environments (representativeness).
Charnwood, at 870 Arthurs Creek Road, Arthurs Creek is a representative example of a former nineteenth-century orcharding property. Its representative significance as a surviving early orcharding complex lies in its composition of the 1860s red brick farmhouse and a stables located in a picturesque setting on Arthurs Creek. Both the house and stables are constructed from bricks made on the site using clay from a pit to the rear of the stables. The early and extant buildings are evocative of the pioneering spirit and although diminished, the remnant garden and orchard provide an indication of the expanse and productivity of Draper’s orchards in their heyday



CRITERION E: Importance in exhibiting particular aesthetic characteristics (aesthetic significance).
N/A


CRITERION F: Importance in demonstrating a high degree of creative or technical achievement at a particular period (technical significance).
N/A


CRITERION G: Strong or special association with a particular community or cultural group for social, cultural or spiritual reasons. This includes the significance of a place to Indigenous peoples as part of their continuing and developing cultural traditions (social significance).
N/A


CRITERION H: Special association with the life or works of a person, or group of persons, of importance in the Shire of Nillumbik’s history (associative significance).
Charnwood, at 870 Arthurs Creek Road, Arthurs Creek is significant for its association with Charles Draper. Draper was a pioneer orchardist and active in Nillumbik’s community through his involvement as the first president of the Arthur’s Creek Fruit Growers’ Association, a fellow of the Royal Horticultural Society, and as a member of the Whittlesea Agricultural Society. Draper, with others, was instrumental in establishing Doreen's first school, a non-denominational Common School opened in 1867. Arthur's Creek Fruit Growers' Association in 1890, which helped campaign for a local railway and established a cool store in the district.





Grading and Recommendations

Recommended for inclusion in the schedule to the Heritage Overlay of the Nillumbik Planning Scheme.

Recommendations for the Schedule to the Heritage Overlay (Clause 43.01) in the Nillumbik Planning Scheme:


	External Paint Controls 
Is a permit required to paint an already painted surface?
	No 

	Internal Alteration Controls 
Is a permit required for internal alterations?
	No 

	Tree Controls 
Is a permit required to remove a tree?
	Remaining orchard trees and garden 

	Victorian Heritage Register
Is the place included on the Victorian Heritage Register?
	No

	Incorporated Plan 
Does an Incorporated Plan apply to the site?
	No

	Outbuildings and fences exemptions 
Are there outbuildings and fences which are not exempt from notice and review?
	Yes – stables

	Prohibited uses may be permitted 
Can a permit be granted to use the place for a use which would otherwise be prohibited?
	No

	Aboriginal Heritage Place
Is the place an Aboriginal heritage place which is subject to the requirements of the Aboriginal Heritage Act 2006?
	???




Identified By

[Insert text]

Proposed Extent

To property boundaries
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